
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

____________________________________
:

JEANNETTE KRIZMAN, :
:

Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION
:

v. : No. 06–402
:

AAA MID-ATLANTIC, INC., :
:

Defendant. :
____________________________________:

MEMORANDUM

ROBERT F. KELLY, Sr. J.         OCTOBER 12, 2006

Plaintiff, Jeannette Krizman (“Krizman”), brings this suit against Defendant, AAA Mid-

Atlantic Inc. (“AAA”), alleging discrimination in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of

1964.  42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e–2000e-15 (2000).  She alleges that AAA, through its employees,

discriminated against her because she was of Haitian birth.  Specifically, Krizman claims that she

was treated differently than other similarly situated employees, was subjected to harassment in

the form of a hostile work environment, and was ultimately constructively discharged.  AAA has

filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims averred by Krizman.  After careful review of

the record, this Court grants AAA’s Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims.

I. BACKGROUND

 AAA Mid-Atlantic Inc. is a not-for-profit corporation that provides a wide array of

services and products to its members and customers in the automotive, travel, insurance, and

financial areas.  AAA’s human resources department handles various types of issues for the

corporation including payroll and benefits processing for all employees.  Krizman was employed
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in AAA’s human resources department.

A 

She began working for AAA in November 1997, as a File Clerk.  Krizman was promoted

twice within her first eighteen months of employment; to a File Clerk II in November 1998, and

then to the position of Secretary for Compensation and Benefits in May 1999.  She applied for a

position as a Human Resources Coordinator  under the supervision of Ms. Theresa Reese in

January, 2001.  Ms. Reese interviewed Krizman and ultimately decided to hire her for the

position of a Payroll Analyst.  Ms. Reese is African American.

As a Payroll Analyst, Krizman’s duties included collecting time sheets, inputting figures

into the payroll system, entering paid time off requests, and inputting new hire and promotion

data.  She was also responsible for entering the proper tax codes into employee’s files so that

accurate records and tax withholdings could be maintained for employees living or working in

Philadelphia and subject to the city wage tax.  The tax setup task did not involve tax analysis,

rather it was a data entry function. 

AAA reorganized its internal operations in 2002.  Prior to the reorganization, the human

resources department consisted of two groups, one to service the insurance group and the other

devoted to the corporate group.  Krizman’s group serviced the Mid-Atlantic Insurance Group’s

employees.  With the combination of the two groups, the workload for all human resources

employees increased.  Krizman was promoted in October 2002, in recognition of this additional

responsibility.

The situations giving rise to this Complaint all occurred after AAA reorganized its human

resources operations.  Prior and subsequent to the reorganization, Krizman distributed
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confidential cost center reports, which included salary information, to vice-presidents in the

insurance group.  After the restructuring, she assumed the duty of distributing these reports to the

corporate group’s vice presidents as well.  In March 2003, approximately five months after she

assumed this new duty, Krizman delivered the cost center reports to unauthorized low level

employees in the corporate group, not the vice presidents.  Ms. Reese received numerous

complaints from the vice-presidents about the severity of this error who expressed deep concern

about properly addressing Krizman’s action to avoid future occurrences.  Consequently, a written

warning was issued, but Krizman did not receive a copy.

Krizman complained shortly after the reorganization that her workload was too much to

handle, so Ms. Reese temporarily assigned some of the duties to another employee, Ms. Carol

Belgum.  After the work was reassigned, Krizman complained to Ms. Reese that she was not

providing her with enough assistance to complete her job. Krizman was informed by Mr. Conley,

Director of Human Resources, and Ms. Reese that the position was a one person job.  They could

not divert anymore of her work to other employees.  Krizman was expected to complete the

remaining tasks assigned.  Krizman has not claimed that she was assigned an inordinate amount

of work, rather she stated that she was taking long hours to finish her tasks.  (Krizman Dep. 114-

16).  She believed that the job was too much for one person to handle.  After Krizman’s

resignation, Ms. Belgum assumed all of Krizman’s tasks in addition to her own responsibilities.

Krizman felt Ms. Reese demeaned her in various ways and made derogatory comments. 

Ms. Reese would shout any remark about the work Krizman was performing from across the

room instead of coming to her cubicle, which was within close proximity to Ms. Reese’s office. 

Krizman complained to Mr. Conley that if he just listened, since his office was right next door to
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Ms. Reese’s, he would hear the things that she was complaining about.  (Krizman Dep. 135). 

Additionally, Krizman was offended by Ms. Reese coming to her desk to talk to her or ask her 

questions instead of calling her on the telephone or emailing her.  Krizman considered this

demeaning because she felt unable to say to Ms. Reese that she did not have time to answer her

question, or she was in a rush, or she had to meet someone.  Krizman disliked Ms. Reese’s

management style and her tone of voice.  Ms. Reese also frequently said to Krizman that she

could not understand her or she could not hear her.  Ms. Reese also said things like, “don’t come

to my office,” “I don’t want you to do it this way,” and “this is your job now.”  (Krizman Dep.

35).  Krizman felt these comments were not fair and believes they were made because she was

born in Haiti.

In April 2003, Ms. Reese received an email from the director of payroll, Mr. Robert

Deissroth highlighting deficiencies he observed in Krizman’s work.  (Def. Mem. Ex. F).  While

Mr. Deissroth was not responsible for Krizman, she did impact him as he was ultimately

responsible for the payroll.  He was concerned that she was seeking excessive assistance from

other groups, and she seemed to lack basic knowledge about payroll tax.  Ms. Reese scrutinized

Krizman’s work more closely thereafter, and found that some of the concerns raised were

warranted.  Ms. Reese counseled Krizman, provided one-on-one guidance on tasks she was

having difficulty with, and directed her to utilize other employees as resources for additional

questions she might have.

In September 2003, Ms. Reese and Mr. Conley met with Krizman to discuss their

concerns with her performance.  Specifically, Krizman’s failure to process promotional increases

and final payments, and her failure to issue live checks for a special request were addressed. 
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Krizman erroneously issued the checks as direct deposits, and AAA had to pay the fee to stop

payment.  Ms. Reese also requested that Krizman send her drafts of her email responses to

employees’ questions before they were sent, as she was concerned that Krizman was not

providing thorough responses.  These issues were addressed in Krizman’s 2003 annual appraisal,

where she received an overall rating of 2.65, reflecting that she had not consistently met job

standards the previous year.

AAA converted to an automated payroll system during 2004.  Employees began entering

their time sheets directly, which substantially reduced the amount of data Krizman was required

to enter.  The focus of her job moved towards reviewing, auditing, and correcting payroll reports

generated by the system.  Krizman and the other payroll processors received only limited group

training on the new system.  She had difficulties reconciling the reports, so Ms. Reese provided

assistance to her in auditing the reports which were time sensitive

On August 30, 2004, Mr. Conley and Ms. Reese met with Krizman again to discuss the

problems associated with her performance.  They made available options to address her

complaints of having an excessive workload and their need to have this job completed by one

employee.  This discussion was summarized in an email Ms. Reese sent to Krizman on

September 1, 2004.  (Def. Mem. Ex. M).  In the email, Ms. Reese reiterated the three options that

Krizman was presented with regarding her employment.  She could: (1) “[r]emain in [her]

current position and perform at the expected levels,” (2) transition into an HR Support position

which carried with it a salary reduction of $300 and less responsibility, or (3) she could elect to

resign and sign a release entitling her to collect ten weeks of pay.  (Id.).  Krizman chose to

remain in her position.  Ms. Reese and Mr. Conley continued to monitor Krizman’s work,
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instituted bi-weekly status meetings to assess her progress, and advised Krizman on the steps that

needed to be taken for her to become proficient in her position.

However, Krizman informed Mr. Conley two weeks later on September 15, 2004, that she

now intended to resign.  Mr. Conley requested a written notice of resignation, which she

provided to him on September 20, 2004.  Krizman worked for AAA for the two week period

following her notice of resignation.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, granting summary

judgment is proper “if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).  This Court must ask “whether

the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to the jury or whether it is

so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,

477 U.S. 242, 251-52 (1986).  The moving party has the initial burden of informing the court of

the basis for the motion and identifying those portions of the record that demonstrate the absence

of a genuine issue of material fact.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).  An issue

is genuine only if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis on which a reasonable jury could find for

the non-moving party.  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249.  A factual dispute is material only if it might

affect the outcome of the suit under governing law.  Id. at 248.

The non-moving party must go beyond the pleadings and present “specific facts showing

that there is a genuine issue for trial.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).  Similarly, the non-moving party

cannot rely on unsupported assertions, conclusory allegations, or mere suspicions in attempting

to survive a  summary judgment motion.  Williams v. Borough of W. Chester, 891 F.2d 458, 460
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(3d Cir. 1989).  The non-moving party must raise “more than a mere scintilla of evidence in its

favor” in order to overcome a summary judgment motion.  Tziatzios v. United States, 164 F.R.D.

410, 411-12 (E.D. Pa. 1996).  Further, the non-moving party has the burden of producing

evidence to establish each prima facie element of its claim.  Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322-23.  If the

court, in viewing all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party, determines that

there is no genuine issue of material fact, then summary judgment is proper.  Id. at 322;

Wisniewski v. Johns-Manville Corp., 812 F.2d 81, 83 (3d Cir. 1987).

III. DISCUSSION
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The final element necessary to establish a prima facie harassment hostile work

environment claim is respondeat superior liability.  Because Krizman has failed to establish the

preceding elements of a hostile work environment claim, discussion of this is unnecessary.
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In conclusion, Krizman has failed to establish a prima facie case of hostile working

environment.  Failure to establish a hostile work environment precludes her from claiming that

she was constructively discharged, which it turn precludes her ability to establish the adverse

employment action necessary for the prima facie case of individual disparate treatment. 

Consequently, AAA is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on all claims. 

Accordingly, this Court grants AAA’s Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims.

We therefore enter the following Order.



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

____________________________________
:

JEANNETTE KRIZMAN, :
:

Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION
:

v. : No. 06–402
:

AAA MID-ATLANTIC, INC., :
:
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____________________________________:

ORDER

AND NOW, this   12th  day of October, 2006, upon consideration of Defendant’s Motion

for Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the F.R.C.P. (Doc. Nos. 8, 9) and Plaintiff’s

response thereto, it is hereby ORDERED that Defendant’s MOTION on all claims is

GRANTED.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Robert F. Kelly                             
ROBERT F. KELLY,                Sr. J.


